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FEDERAL OAKS, Solomons Island Road North, (MD 2)

Sunderland before 1890; and 1929
dtore-public: house-private

The extant two-story frame house on this
site was " built in two stages before 1890,
The floor plan consists of a central hall
flanked by a parlor to either side. Later
a one-story frame structure was added to
the west end. In 1929, this store and

a separate log kitchen were demolished
and a nev store was built perpendicular
to the west end of the house, This one-
story clapboard-covered structure still
serves as a store.



CAPSULE SUMMARY

CT-193

Hardesty’s Grocery Store and Federal Oaks

6721 N. Solomons Island Road

Sunderland, Calvert County

Ca. 1875, Ca. 1929

Private

Hardesty’s Grocery Store and Federal Oaks, located at 6721 North Solomons Island Road in
Sunderland, Calvert County, has been the site of a general store for seventy-three years. Like
others of its kind, Hardesty’s Grocery Store became a popular venue for isolated county residents
who came to the store not only to shop for necessary items, but also to socialize with fellow
neighbors. Constructed circa 1929, Hardesty’s Grocery Store was built as an addition to the circa
1875 dwelling known as Federal Oaks. Members of the Russell family operated the general store
from 1929 until 1984, when the property was sold to Maurice and Georgia Hardesty. Hardesty’s

Grocery Store retains much of its original character and continues to operate as a store and social

location.

The building consists of a circa 1875 dwelling, known as Federal Oaks, and a store, known as
Hardesty's Grocery Store. The one-and-a-half-story wood-frame store was constructed circa
1929 on the northwest elevation of the earlier dwelling. Featuring a rectangular footprint with a
full-width, shed-roof porch, the store is covered by a side-gabled roof with pressed metal
shingles. The vernacular building stands on a solid concrete-block foundation with weatherboard
cladding. Originally consisting of one large room, the store has since been partitioned, and
several alterations have occurred including the partial enclosure of the front porch and the
addition of a small room to accommodate a refrigeration system. The interior of the store retains
beaded paneling on both the walls and ceiling. To the rear of the store is the two-and-a-half-story
wood-frame dwelling with a éwo-story rear ell. Like the store, the dwelling is clad in
weatherboard with pressed metal shingles on the roof. Although the store is still in operation, the

dwelling has been abandoned and is in a state of partial decay.
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1. Name of Property (indicate preferred name)
historic Hardesty’s Grocery Store
other Federal Oaks

2. Location

street and number 6721 N. Solomons Island Road ___notfor publication
city, town Sunderland vicinity
county Calvert

3. Owner of Pr operty (give names and mailing addresses of all owners)

name Ravinder Kaur Mehli

street and number 9401 Copernicus Drive

telephone  301/908-1538

city, town Lanham state MD

zip code 20706-3371

4. Location of Legal Description

courthouse, registry of deeds, etc. Calvert County Courthouse

tax map and parcel: M11, P335

city, town Prince Frederic

liber KPS folio 451

5. Primary Location of Additional Data

— Contributing Resource in National Register District

_ Contributing Resource in Local Historic District

Determined Eligible for the National Register/Maryland Register
Determined Ineligible for the National Register/Maryland Register
Recorded by HABS/HAER

Historic Structure Report or Research Report

Other

6. Classification

Category Ownership Current Function

_ district _ public ___ agriculture L landsca')pe

X buiding(s)  x private X ;:;nmerce/trade o relc':r?ahorvculture

__ structure __ both — celense — religion

site ___ domestic __ social
. education transportation

__  object — — -
__ funerary ___ work in progress
~ government __unknown
__ health care __ vacant/not in use
___ industry other:

Resource Count
Contributing Noncontributing

2 buildings
___ sites
structures
objects
2 Total

Number of Contributing Resources
previously listed in the inventory

1




—~ 7. Description inventory No.  CT-193

Condition
__  excellent —._ deteriorated
— good —_  ruins
X fair __ altered

Prepare both a one paragraph summary and a comprehensive description of the resource and its various elements as it
exists today.

Hardesty’s Grocery Store and Federal Oaks is located on a sloping parcel of land at the comner of North Solomons Road (Maryland
Route 2) and Dalrymple Road in Calvert County, Maryland. The building consists of a circa 1875 dwelling, known as Federal
Oaks, and a store, known as Hardesty's Grocery Store. The one-and-a-half-story wood-frame store was constructed circa 1929 on
the northwest elevation of the earlier dwelling. Featuring a rectangular footprint with a full-width, shed-roof porch, the store is
covered by a side-gabled roof with pressed metal shingles. The vernacular building stands on a solid concrete-block foundation
with weatherboard cladding. Originally consisting of one large room, the store has since been partitioned, and several alterations
have occurred including the partial enclosure of the front porch and the addition of a small room to accommodate a refrigeration
system. The interior of the store retains beaded paneling on both the walls and ceiling. To the rear of the store is the two-and-a-
half-story wood-frame dwelling with a two-story rear ell. Like the store, the dwelling is clad in weatherboard with pressed metal
shingles on the roof. Although the store is still in operation, the dwelling has been abandoned and is in a state of partial decay.

EXTERIOR DESCRIPTION, FEDERAL OAKS

The original dwelling is oriented towards the southwest and attached directly to the store. Likely dating to the last quarter of the
19th century and now in a state of rapidly advancing decay, the dwelling is a two-and-a-half-story, gable-roof, wood frame
building with an two-story, gable-roof ell addition to the back and resting on a brick pier foundation. The house is faced in lapped
wood siding with a painted pressed metal shingle roof. The southwest elevation is five bays in width and features three evenly
spaced attic dormers. There is a single-story, three-bay entrance porch on slender square piers of recent construction. Although
obscured from the exterior by plywood, in situ 2/2 windows are visible from the interior, and are contemporary with the rear ell
addition. The entrance is characterized by a single entrance with a five-light transom and three-light sidelights over raised panels.
There is currently no front door. Two interior brick chimneys project from the peak of the gable roof, and one from the northeast
end of the rear ell.

The southeast elevation of the dwelling is composed of two main sections. The side, gable-end elevation of the original two-story,
single-pile house is two bays in width and features flat wood window surrounds. Directly attached to the original dwelling and
flush with it is a circa 1900 rear ell. The southeast elevation of the ell is three bays in width, with extant 2/2 windows and a
doorway in the first-story southwestern bay. The door is accessed through a small one-story, one-bay porch, and a short shed roof
projects over the windows of the first story. The northeast elevation of the original dwelling appears to have mirrored the front, or
southwest elevation, with the exception of the presence of only the two outer dormers at the attic level. The northeast elevation of
the rear ell exhibits no fenestration. The northwest elevation of the original dwelling is largely obscured by the store.

INTERIOR DESCRIPTION, FEDERAL OAKS

The attached dwelling has a single-pile, center hall plan with the projecting ell to the rear. Due to the advanced deterioration of
the structure, access to the interior was limited to the central hall from where the two first-floor parlors can be seen. These rooms
are finished in the manner of a vernacular farmhouse from the last quarter of the 19th century with minimal ornamentation. The
rooms are finished in hardwood strip flooring, with plaster walls and ceilings. Joinery, where present, is wood with no molding.
Window and door surrounds are not mitered but rather fitted square against one another, with lintel pieces rising into a shallow
triangular shape characteristic of the Italianate style. A high wainscot in the northwest parlor is articulated with vertical tongue-
and-groove panels and a beaded chair rail. Mantelpieces in both parlors are identical and are defined by two square pilasters
supporting a flat lintel and console. Doors feature four raised panels and glazed ceramic doorknobs.

EXTERIOR DESCRIPTION, HARDESTY'S GROCERY STORE

The primary street elevation, facing northwest, is defined by a later porch enclosure to the north and an open porch supported on
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slender square piers to the south. The porch enclosure, clad in aluminum siding, features a single small horizontal-sliding double-
sash window on the primary elevation. The open portion of the porch features double paired doors and two windows blocked from
the inside, as well as a tongue-and-groove beaded board ceiling. Windows are 1/1, and window and door surrounds are flat strips
of wood with no molding.

The southwest elevation, partially obscured by vegetation, features only one window opening in the attic. Extending outward from
the main block of the building is a small, one-story shed-roof addition sheathed in particleboard and resting on a concrete block
perimeter foundation. This structure houses the mechanical equipment for the store’s refrigeration system. The southeast
elevation is long and low, with a hyphen connecting the store to the older dwelling behind. Three evenly spaced windows are
present on this elevation. The center window is boarded up, and the two flanking windows are covered with steel bars. The
northeast elevation is marked by two bays on the first level, featuring a replacement metal door and a window, and a single
boarded up window on the attic level. Of particular note are the gable returns evident on the southwest and northeast elevations.
They feature an ogee molding on a flat bell-curved piece of wood.

INTERIOR DESCRIPTION, HARDESTY'S GROCERY STORE

The interior of Hardesty’s Grocery Store, originally one large room, is finished in vinyl floor tile and tongue-and-groove, beaded
boards on the walls and ceilings. Directly adjacent to the central entrance, against the northwest wall of the store, is a large wood
counter. The south corner of the store is partitioned off, apparently to accommodate the refrigeration system. Door and window
surrounds feature a flat, square wood architrave and a projecting sill. Long fluorescent lights affixed to the ceiling illuminate the
store.

OUTBUILDINGS

Behind the dwelling house on a steep incline to the southeast amidst heavily overgrown plantings is a small deteriorating wood
frame outbuilding of unknown function appearing to date to the early 20th century. It is high and narrow with flush wood siding
and a shed roof sheathed in asphalt shingles. Directly adjacent to this outbuilding on the northeast side are the ruins of a frame
outbuilding.




8. Significance Inventory No.  CT-193

Period Areas of Significance Check and justify below
—1600-1689 __  agricuiture __ economics _ healtivmedicine —_ performing arts
— 1700-1799 _  archeology — education —_ industry — philospohy
X 1800-1899 ___ architecture __ engineering ___ invention . politics/government
X 1900-1999 ___ art —_ entertainment/ — landscape architecture __ religion
__ 2000- X commerce recreation — law — science
___ communications —__ ethnic heritage —_ literature X social history
— community planning __  exploration/ —_ maritime industry __ transportation
—_ conservation settlement — military — other:
Specific dates c1875; c1929 Architect/Builder  Unknown

Construction dates c1875;c1929

Evaluation for:

National Register Maryland Register X not evaluated

Prepare a one-paragraph summary statement of significance addressing applicable criteria, followed by a narrative discussion of
the history of the resource and its context. (For compliance reports, complete evaluation on a DOE Form - see manual.)

Hardesty’s Grocery Store and Federal Oaks, located at 6721 North Solomons Island Road in Sunderland, Calvert County, has been
the site of a general store for seventy-three years. Like others of its kind, Hardesty’s Grocery Store became a popular venue for
isolated county residents who came to the store not only to shop for necessary items, but also to socialize with fellow neighbors.
Constructed circa 1929, Hardesty’s Grocery Store was built as an addition to the circa 1875 dwelling known as Federal Oaks.
Members of the Russell family operated the general store from 1929 until 1984, when the property was sold to Maurice and
Georgia Hardesty. Hardesty’s Grocery Store retains much of its original character and continues to operate as a store and social
location.

HISTORY OF HARDESTY’S GROCERY STORE

In 1875, James J. Wilson purchased the parcel of land on which Hardesty’s Grocery Store now sits from E. E. Berry. It appears
that Wilson subsequently began the construction of the two-and-a-half-story dwelling that currently is located behind the grocery
store. The property passed to Wilson’s daughter, Hester A. Wood of Baltimore City, who sold her interest to Calvert County
resident Mary E. Howes in 1890 for the sum of $75. The property would remain in Mary Howes’ family for the next half a
century. The existing store is believed to have been built around 1929 under the ownership of Ida H. Russell, daughter of Mary
Howes, on the site of an older store. (1) Ida Russell and her husband are said by longtime customers to have operated the store
together, with Mrs. Russell taking care of the store and Mr. Russell making deliveries throughout the neighborhood in a horse and
carriage.

After the property passed into the hands of various heirs, interest in the store and associated property was consolidated by Lois R.
Gibson in 1946, who acquired 160 acres through three separate deeds from J. Stanley Russell, son of Ida Russell, and Verna B.
Russell for $10.00. The store continued to be operated by members of the Russell family until 1984 when it was sold to Maurice C.
and Georgia Lee Hardesty for $125,000, who gave the store its current name. By this time, the property had been reduced to less
than an acre consisting of the store and attached dwelling and the immediate surroundings. The house and store are located on "Lot
4 of the Morgan E. Russell Commercial Subdivision." (2)

THE GENERAL STORE IN CALVERT COUNTY

Hardesty's Grocery Store is an excellent example of the rural general store, one of the most significant practical and social building
types in Calvert County. Perhaps more than any other building type in Calvert County, the general store is rich with associations
for the generations of county residents who purchased basic goods and socialized at neighborhood general stores their entire lives.
General stores became the subject of special attention particularly in the last quarter of the 20th century as rapid residential and
commercial development has contributed towards making the rural or small town general store obsolete. Very few general stores
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remain operating in Calvert County today, and those that remain in operation have adapted to the modern commercial market and
changed their merchandise to suit traveling customers or the tourist industry. Hardesty’s Grocery Store is extraordinary in the fact
that it has remained in operation in the same building from its construction to the present day, although both the building and
merchandise have been somewhat adapted.

At the turn of the 20th century, however, Calvert County was populated with dozens of country general stores. General stores were
located in small towns or along rural transportation routes, both land and water, particularly crossroads, waterway landings, and at
railroad freight or flag stops. In Calvert County, most of the known general stores date to the late 19th and early 20th centuries. As
many general stores were built onto existing dwellings, as in conjunction with living quarters, it is logical that the general store
from this period would adopt the form of a late Victorian-era dwelling: a two-story wood-frame building with a gable or cross-
gable roof and wide front or side porches. Hardesty’s Grocery Store, with its one-and-a-half-story, elongated form and a clear
distinction between it and the related dwelling, is an exception to this form, but does illustrate the close relationship between the
dwelling house and the general store.

The “general” store was so named because of the general nature of items carried. First and foremost in the country general store
was the agricultural and livestock merchandise such as feed, seeds for planting, small tools and supplies such as rope and nails.
Fishing, oystering and crabbing supplies such as bait, nets and cages would have been sold in many stores, as well, particularly in
the late 19th and early 20th century with the rise of the seafood industry in Calvert County. Basic food items, primarily dry goods
such as flour and salt, were carried as well, and to a lesser extent perishable items such as freshly-butchered meats, fruits and dairy
products. Availability of these perishable items, before refrigeration became readily accessible in the second quarter of the 20th
century, would have been periodic, with local butchers or farmers delivering fresh items in relatively small quantities. Already
prepared food, such as is common in gas station convenience stores today, was uncommon in the late 19th and early 20th centuries,
but by the mid-20th century many general stores offered these items and other prepared foods such as cold cut sandwiches or even
had a grill. Hardesty's Grocery Store now sells basic convenience store foods and features a deli counter at which customers can
purchase made-to-order sandwiches.

Tobacco products, toiletries, newspapers and other periodical publications and medicines were an essential component of the
general store, which featured a variety of painkillers, tonics and elixirs, and other general remedies. General stores frequently
carried sweets and sodas, as well, the latter deriving from general store medicine tonics and achieving its current popularity by
introduction in country general stores of the late 19th and early 20th centuries. Many general stores also carried cloth, or basic
apparel for the rural residents engaged in agricultural or maritime pursuits. Standard items included farming and fishing apparel
such as overalls and cotton shirts or waterproof gear, underwear, socks and shoes, as well as more luxury items such as collared
shirts, dresses and hats. Small gifts and toys were also common in the general store. Following the introduction of gasoline-
powered automobiles and boats, gasoline fuel pumps became a major component to the general store, both along automobile,
railroad and water routes.

Country general stores were more than just places to purchase goods. Wide front porches with chairs or interior seating areas
arranged around wood heating stoves were provided for the customers by the proprietor specifically to encourage social interaction
which preserved the customer base and provided the proprietor with the opportunity to visit and catch up on local news and gossip.
Local residents and store proprietors knew one another, sometimes their entire lives, and visits to the store for both business and
social purposes became part of their routine.

General stores began to decline in popularity and number following World War II, largely due to the appearance of supermarkets,
department stores, and other specialized merchandise stores. Only a very small percentage of late-19th- and early-20th-century
general stores have survived in something like their original function. Hardesty's Grocery Store is one of them, a fact particularly
remarkable as the store has not installed gas pumps as have others, and many of the customers have been coming there since the
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1930s. In many cases, general stores have been renovated as residences, or the store has been allowed to decay while the attached
dwelling house continues to be occupied. Hardesty’s Grocery Store and Federal Oaks has developed in the opposite manner, with
the residence falling into disuse and decay while the general store continues to thrive. These factors make the Hardesty’s Grocery
Store property a good example of the rural general store in Calvert County.

CHAIN OF TITLE

December 22, 1875:  E. E. Berry and wife to James J. Wilson
Land Records of Calvert County
Liber JHB 1, Folio 163

March 13, 1890: Hester A. Wood (daughter of James J. Wilson) to Mary E. Howes
Land Records of Calvert County
Liber AAH 43, Folio 67

1942: Nana Mildred Owings (granddaughter of Mary E. Howes) and Russell H. Owings to Lois R. Gibson
Land Records of Calvert County
Liber AAH 47, Folio 529

September 7, 1946:  Linnae Russell (granddaughter of Mary E. Howes), widow, to Lois R. Gibson
Land Records of Calvert County
Liber AWR 8, Folio 282

October 28, 1946:  J. Stanley Russell (grandson of Mary E. Howes) and Verna B. Russell to Lois R. Gibson
Land Records of Calvert County
Liber AWR 8, Folio 480

June 26, 1969: Thelma W. Harkness, widow, Mary G. Lankford and Bernard P. Lankford, husband, and R. Wilson Russell
and Cordelia D. Russell, wife, to Morgan E. Russell and Charlotte H. Russell, wife

Land Records of Calvert County

Liber JLB 111, Folio 327

September 21, 1984: Morgan E. Russell and Charlotte H. Russell, wife, to Maurice C. Hardesty and Georgia Lee Hardesty
Land Records of Calvert County
Liber ABE 325, Folio 386

October 22, 1993:  Maurice C. Hardesty and Georgia Lee Hardesty to Maurice C. Hardesty, Sr.
Land Records of Calvert County
Liber ABE 699, Folio 271 -

February 5, 2002: Maurice C. Hardesty, Sr. to Ravinder Kaur Mehli

Land Records of Calvert County
Liber KPS 1523, Folio 451

ENDNOTES
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1. “Federal Oaks, CT-193,” Maryland Historical Trust Inventory Form for State Historic Sites Survey, Maryland Historical Trust,

Crownsville, MD.
2. Land Records of Calvert County, Liber KPS 1523, Folio 451, Calvert County Courthouse, Prince Frederick, MD.




9. Major Bibliographical References Inventory No.  CT-193

See continuation sheet.

10. Geographical Data

Acreage of surveyed property (.89 Acres
Acreage of historical setting Unknown
Quadrangle name North Beach Quadrangle scale _ 1:24,000

Verbal boundary description and justification

Hardesty’s Grocery Store and Federal Oaks has been associated with Parcel 335, as denoted on Tax Map 11, since its
construction circa 1875.

11. Form Prepared By

nameftitle R. Weidlich and C. Albee, Architectural Historians

organization E.H.T. Traceries, Inc. dat 8/26/02
street and number 1121 Fifth Street, N.W. telephone  202/393-1199
city or town Washington stat DC zZip code 20001

The Maryland Inventory of Historic Properties was officially created by an Act of the Maryland
Legislature to be found in the Annotated Code of Maryland, Article 41, Section 181 KA, 1974

suppiement.

The survey and inventory are being prepared for information and record purposes only
and do not constitute any infringement of individual property rights.

retum to: Maryland Historical Trust
DHCD/DHCP
100 Community Place
Crownsville MD 21032
410-514-7600
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"Federal Oaks, CT-193," Maryland Historical Trust Inventory Form for State Historic Sites Survey, Maryland Historical Trust,
Crownsville, MD.
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